

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED CODE OF CONDUCT AND BUSINESS INTEGRITY

8 JULY 2021



CONTENTS

MES	SSAGE FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR	1	
1.0	ABOUT OUR CODE OF CONDUCT AND BUSINESS INTEGRITY	2	
1.1	OUR EXPECTATIONS OF YOU	2	
1.2	OUR EXPECTATIONS OF THOSE WHO SUPERVISE YOU	3	
1.3	MRL VALUES	4	
1.4	ZERO TOLERANCE FOR RETALIATION	4	
1.5	BUSINESS CONDUCT QUESTIONS AND CONCERNS	4	
1.6	WHERE TO GO TO FOR HELP	5	
2.0	WORKING WITH EACH OTHER	5	
2.1	ENSURING A SAFE WORKPLACE	5	
2.2	FITNESS FOR WORK	6	
2.3	RESPECTING DIFFERENCE	7	
2.4	DISCRIMINATION, BULLYING AND HARASSMENT	7	
2.5	WORKPLACE VIOLENCE	7	
3.0	WORKING WITHIN OUR COMMUNITIES	7	
3.1	HUMAN RIGHTS	8	
3.2	NATIVE TITLE AND HERITAGE	8	
4.0	CARING FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT	8	
5.0	BUSINESS CONDUCT	8	
5.1	ACTING LAWFULLY	8	
5.2	BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION	9	
5.3	GIFTS, HOSPITALITY AND ENTERTAINMENT	9	
5.4	CONFLICTS OF INTEREST	12	
5.5	FAIR AND OPEN COMPETITION	13	
5.6	INSIDER TRADING	13	
6.0	PROTECTING OUR RESOURCES	14	
6.1	PRIVACY	14	
6.2	GOVERNMENT AND INTERNATIONAL OBLIGATIONS	15	
6.3	REPRESENTING MRL	16	
7.0	BREACHES OF THE CODE	17	
7.1	CONSEQUENCES OF BREACHING THE CODE	17	

OUR PEOPLE ARE OUR MOST **IMPORTANT** ASSET

Mineral Resources is achieving great things by providing agile, innovative and low cost solutions across our mining services, mining operations and supply chain activity.

But our ongoing success depends on the commitment of our people in demonstrating integrity and respect when working alongside one another or in partnership with our clients, our customers and our community.

Our Code of Conduct and Business Integrity outlines the way do business and the behaviours that embody our MRL values and company ethos. It also encourages a workplace environment that fosters loyalty and trust across business relationships and stakeholder interactions.

Our MRL family is our most important asset, so please read and understand your obligations under the Code to ensure this company continues to operate with integrity, strengthens its reputation as a trusted business partner, and grows its standing as a good corporate citizen.

Chris Ellison

Managing Director Mineral Resources Limited

July 2021

THE CODE IS BASED ON OUR VALUES AND REPRESENTS OUR **COMMITMENT** TO UPHOLD THE HIGHEST **STANDARDS OF ETHICS** AND INTEGRITY IN OUR **BUSINESS PRACTICES**



1.0 ABOUT OUR CODE OF CONDUCT AND BUSINESS INTEGRITY

Our Code of Conduct and Business Integrity ("the Code") is the cornerstone of how we operate at Mineral Resources ("MRL" or "the Company"). The Code helps guide our daily work. It demonstrates how to practically apply our values and reflects many of the standards and procedures which are applicable across our Company.

The Code is based on our values and represents our commitment to uphold the highest standards of ethics and integrity in our business practices. Our employees are expected to act with integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to contribute positively to the reputation and performance of MRL. Our employees are also expected to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. We believe that consistent and proper business conduct creates loyalty and trust with our stakeholders and each other.

The Code cannot cover every scenario, nor describe every applicable law, policy or standard, so it is important that you understand where to go for further support and information, and apply your own common sense. Compliance with the Code will assist in delivering long term sustainable returns to all our key stakeholders.

The Code will be periodically reviewed, revised and re-published where necessary to ensure it remains relevant and appropriate to MRL's activities.

1.1 OUR EXPECTATIONS OF YOU

All employees, directors, officers and contractors (collectively called "the employees") of MRL and its subsidiaries must adhere to the Code, regardless of location or role.

The Code defines how employees should conduct themselves whenever they are identified as a representative of MRL. This may include times when employees are outside of the immediate workplace or working hours or out in the community on behalf of MRL.

Each employee is responsible for ensuring they understand the requirements contained in the Code and for seeking further information should they have any concerns over the information. Each employee is also expected to participate in training on the Code.

Employees must take all reasonable steps to ensure that any employees, contractors or suppliers under their supervision or direction, are aware of, and comply with the Code.

All employees are expected to report breaches of the Code. You can find more information on how to report breaches in Section 7.0: Breaches of the Code. All employees are required to comply with all MRL policies, standards and procedures as well as all applicable laws and regulations.

1.2 OUR EXPECTATIONS OF THOSE WHO SUPERVISE YOU

If you supervise other people, you have an additional duty of care to understand your responsibilities in dealing with Code of Conduct concerns. If you supervise others, you should also:

- Consistently demonstrate exemplary behaviour
- Foster a culture where employees understand their responsibilities, feel comfortable and supported to raise concerns without fear of retaliation
- Ensure standards and procedures are accessible and understood
- Embed the Code into existing processes, such as performance development discussions, employment and supply contracts
- Help people to understand the practical applications of the Code
- Take or recommend appropriate action to address business conduct issues
- Never ignore or dismiss a concern raised



MRL VALUES. WE ARE AN AGILE FAMILY WHO TOGETHER, **ACHIEVE** INCREDIBLE THINGS.

1.3 MRL VALUES

• AGILE - You won't hear "I don't know" or "I can't" very often at MRL. We employ the best in the business to keep us moving forward.

We act fast and seize opportunities.

We think differently.

• FAMILY - We show up for each other and have each other's backs.

> We care for each other and the world around us.

> We celebrate our differences because they make us stronger.

Above all else, we are family.

• ACHIEVE - Every person in our business contributes to our success.

> We do challenging work and we achieve incredible things.

We have the courage to take on the impossible and the passion to make it happen.

1.4 ZERO TOLERANCE FOR **RFTALIATION**

MRL prohibits any form of punishment, disciplinary or retaliatory action being taken against anyone for raising or helping to address a business conduct concern, including a breach of this Code. If you have been the victim of any retaliation for raising a concern you should report it immediately to your manager, Human Resources, Executive General Manager -Commercial & Legal or Company Secretary.

1.5 BUSINESS CONDUCT QUESTIONS AND CONCERNS

If you are in doubt about whether you should speak up, try answering these simple questions:

- Values Does it fit with our values? Does it fit with your personal values?
- Comply with State or Commonwealth Legislation - Is it safe, legal and in line with our standards and procedures?
- Newsworthy If the story appeared in the news, would you feel comfortable with the decision you made?
- Family What would you tell your partner, parent or child to do?

If you felt discomfort or had difficulty when answering any of these questions, it indicates that you should speak to someone about your concern.

1.6 WHERE TO GO TO FOR HELP

There are a number of people you can go to for help if you want to discuss something that you are not sure about or think the Code has been breached:

- Supervisor or manager
- Human Resources representative
- General Manager HR & IR
- Executive General Manager Commercial & Legal
- Chief Executive
- Chief Financial Officer
- Company Secretary
- Trained Contact Officer

If you do not feel comfortable raising a breach of the Code with the people listed above, or you believe the breach or suspected breach to be a serious violation of the Code or the law, you can report the breach to MRL's external independent whistleblowing service, MinRes Integrity Assist. More information on MinRes Integrity Assist can be found in Section 7.0: Breaches of the Code.



2.0 WORKING WITH EACH OTHER

2.1 ENSURING A SAFE WORKPLACE

Health and safety are crucial focus areas in maintaining a great place to work and our social licence to operate. Safety is an integral part of how we do business at MRL. Safe operations depend on technically sound plant and equipment; and work that is well designed, planned, executed, supervised and approved by trained and competent people. Every person within MRL must take responsibility for preventing workplace-related injuries and illnesses.

We are committed to complying with all health and safety laws and regulations governing our activities and have developed a suite of policies, standards and procedures to guide compliance. Similarly, we are committed to caring for and protecting our people. We work to identify and control hazards, protect our people from exposure to health and safety risks and support the health and wellbeing of our people.

You are responsible for ensuring you understand your responsibilities to uphold the highest standards of health and safety in all that you do.

WE ARE COMMITTED TO COMPLYING WITH ALL HEALTH **AND SAFETY** LAWS AND REGULATIONS **GOVERNING OUR ACTIVITIES**

YOU MUST:

- Comply with all health and safety policies, standards and procedures, which are published on our intranet, available from your site manager and reinforced through regular communications. You are expected to ask your manager if you have difficulty accessing the information or understanding the implications. Ignorance is not a valid reason for non-compliance.
- Be fit for work at all times for the duration of your shift
- Immediately report any workplace incidents and injuries, including hazards and near misses
- Immediately report any hazards you become aware of and alert those around you of any potential risks
- Complete relevant risk assessments prior to commencing any work-related task
- Be responsible for your own health and safety at work and ensure your actions do not put the health and safety of yourself or others at risk
- Ensure you are fully aware of the health and safety requirements of your role and not assume roles for which you are not trained, competent or authorised to perform Managers and supervisors are accountable for implementing and monitoring the effectiveness of MRL's policies, standards and procedures and for ensuring that supporting systems are in place.

2.2 FITNESS FOR WORK

We are committed to providing our employees with a safe and healthy work environment and expect all employees, contractors and visitors to any of our workplaces to be able to function at an acceptable level of performance and not to be affected by alcohol, legal or illegal drugs or adversely affected by medication, fatigue, injury or illness.

You have a duty to ensure your personal conduct within the workplace and elsewhere does not adversely affect your work performance, safety, or the reputation of yourself, your colleagues or MRL.

If you believe you are, or may be, impaired for any reason and, therefore may not be fit for work, you must cease working and immediately notify your leader so that appropriate action can be undertaken to manage any associated risks.

All people when working on-site must be alcohol and drug free. Therefore, all employees, contractors and visitors to MRL workplaces may be subject to drug and alcohol testing.

2.3 RESPECTING DIFFERENCE

We are committed to creating an environment where employees can enjoy rewarding and fulfilling professional working relationships with each other, where differences are respected, and the working environment is diverse and inclusive. Honesty, integrity and respect for others are essential to establishing and maintaining successful working relationships.

Employees are to ensure they act with courtesy, fairness and respect in all dealings in which they represent MRL. This obligation extends to the entire workplace, work-related social functions and work-related travel.

2.4 DISCRIMINATION, BULLYING AND HARASSMENT

Discrimination, bullying and harassment, including sexual harassment, are not permitted at any level of the Company or in any part of the employment relationship, including at the workplace, at workrelated functions, work-related travel and using work-related resources and technology.

All employees are required to be familiar with MRL's Discrimination, Bullying and Harassment Procedure which defines and explains unacceptable behaviour and provides guidance on reporting, investigating and addressing complaints.

- Discrimination occurs where a person or group of people are treated differently because of a characteristic that applies, or is assumed to apply, to that individual or group, which results in disadvantage to that person or group.
- Unlawful harassment is any unwelcome behaviour or language that a reasonable person would find offensive, intimidating or humiliating. Harassment does not have to be repeated behaviour, and single incidents can fall within the definition.
- Sexual harassment is any unwanted or unwelcome sexual behaviour, which makes a person feel offended, humiliated or intimidated.
- Workplace bullying is where a person or a group of people repeatedly behaves unreasonably towards a worker or group of workers and the behaviour creates a risk to health and safety.

The Company is responsible for creating and maintaining a work environment that is free from discrimination, bullying and harassment. Where an employee believes they are subject to workplace discrimination, bullying or harassment, the Company will take their complaint seriously. All employees have a responsibility to report discrimination, bullying and harassment, whether it directly involves them or they witness or become aware of situations involving other employees.

2.5 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE

Workplace violence and aggression are actions or incidents that may physically or psychologically harm a person or group. Violence and aggression occur when a person or group of people are threatened, attacked or physically assaulted. Violence and aggression are not permitted at any time in the entire workplace, including work-related accommodation, social functions and travel.



3.0 WORKING WITHIN OUR COMMUNITIES

Our ability to build relationships and work together with our communities is critical to our success. We respect the people and communities within which we work and are committed to identifying opportunities where we can make a positive impact on the development of those communities, ensuring our relationships are mutually beneficial.

We build relationships with our communities by engaging regularly, openly and honestly with people and by taking their views and concerns into account in our decision-making. We understand that our business can impact local communities both positively and negatively, either through our own activities or as a result of our business relationships with other parties.

We seek to work with relevant stakeholders to identify and address concerns and expectations, and to maximise potential opportunities for our Company.

Every employee has a personal responsibility to maintain a high level of community awareness and comply with the relevant policies, standards and procedures to ensure that we protect the communities that our activities may impinge upon.

WE WILL TAKE CARE **TO PROTECT THE ENVIRONMENT** IN WHICH WE WORK AND REQUIRE OTHERS TO DO THE SAME

3.1 HUMAN RIGHTS

MRL supports human rights consistent with the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights. We seek to build mutually beneficial relationships and opportunities for inclusion and to respect the rights of our employees, individuals contracted by us, members of our local communities and other stakeholders directly impacted by our operations. We prohibit the use of forced labour, including child labour, slave labour and human trafficking.

3.2 NATIVE TITLE AND HERITAGE

We recognise the traditional rights of Indigenous peoples and acknowledge their right to maintain their culture, identity, traditions and customs. We encourage cultural sensitivity and recognise and respect sites, places, structures and objects that are culturally or traditionally significant.

Employees who engage with Indigenous peoples should consider cultural awareness training that has been developed and delivered in consultation with Indigenous peoples.

4.0 CARING FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT

We will take care to protect the environment in which we work and require others to do the same. Our goal is that we will cause no environmental impact beyond that which is necessary to conduct our businesses and for which statutory approval has been received.

As an employee of MRL, you have a personal responsibility to maintain a high level of environmental awareness and to understand the potential environmental impacts of the tasks you perform, and you must also look at ways to avoid and minimise these impacts. Where actual or potential environmental incidents or spills occur you must report these, irrespective of severity.

We ask you to seek opportunities to protect our natural environment. If you have a suggestion as to how we can contribute to enduring environmental benefits discuss them with your supervisor or manager.

5.0 BUSINESS CONDUCT

5.1 ACTING LAWFULLY

MRL is subject to local laws and regulations wherever we operate. It is essential that all employees comply with all laws and regulations relevant to their work, and with all Company policies, standards and procedures. If you are unsure of local laws and regulations, it is your responsibility to seek advice.

If there is a conflict between a local law and the Code, you should seek advice from the Executive General Manager - Commercial & Legal or Company Secretary as to how you should proceed.

5.2 BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION

A breach of anti-bribery laws or anti-corruption laws is a serious offence that can result in fines and imprisonment. You are expected to act fairly, honestly and with integrity and must never attempt to influence a public official, any other person or entity to achieve an advantage for the Company.

You must not (directly or indirectly) seek, receive, provide or offer bribes or any other benefit or inducement where the purpose of the provider is to improperly influence a decision or outcome to obtain a commercial advantage that is not legitimately entitled to.

You must also ensure that these actions are never undertaken by a partner or associate on your behalf and must report any offer or request for a bribe, or which could be construed by others as a bribe, to your manager.

A payment made to a government official to facilitate approval of some type of business transaction or activity is known as a facilitation payment. Facilitation payments are prohibited by MRL and employees must report any such payments to their manager.

5.3 GIFTS, HOSPITALITY AND ENTERTAINMENT

Accepting gifts, hospitality or entertainment must always be done in accordance with the law. Accepting gifts, hospitality or entertainment can



be a legitimate way of building good business relationships. It is important that they are never used to unduly influence business decision-making or cause others to perceive that there has been improper influence.

Gifts, hospitality or entertainment should only be accepted if they are occasional and of modest value. Determining what is occasional and modest is a matter of judgment.

It is important that you do not accept:

- Product or service discounts that are not available to all employees
- Gifts, favours or any form of hospitality or entertainment in return for business services or information for a business advantage
- Gifts, hospitality or entertainment of an inappropriate value or nature
- Gifts, hospitality or entertainment not designed to further a valid business purpose or relationship

As a general rule, you should reject offers of sponsored travel and accommodation. If there is a valid business purpose to attend an event or function MRL will pay for any travel and/or accommodation costs. Frequent flyer redemption from an airline is not considered an offer. Sponsored travel is not made acceptable by being undertaken during a period of leave.

YOU HAVE A RESPONSIBILITY TO ACT SOLELY IN THE **BEST INTERESTS** OF MRL



10 MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED CODE OF CONDUCT AND BUSINESS INTER



5.4 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

We respect the privacy and choices of our employees. While on the job or in your personal time, nothing you do should conflict with your responsibilities to MRL or compromise the quality of your work performance, your commitment to your work, or your ability to make impartial business decisions.

A conflict of interest arises when an employee's position within the Company or their financial or other personal considerations or interests affect, have the potential to affect, or could have the appearance of affecting, their judgement, objectivity or independence.

A conflict of interest may include:

- Participating in business activities outside of employment with MRL (including directorships, employment or public office)
- Pursuing, awarding or maintaining MRL business opportunities for personal gain or the benefit of close family or friends
- Holding investments directly or indirectly in businesses or assets that are contracted to do business for or on behalf of MRL
- Jeopardising or influencing the results of bid or tender activities
- Using property or information belonging to MRL for personal benefit
- Using the MRL company name for personal benefit
- A personal relationship either within or outside the organisation which is in conflict with duties to MRL

You have a responsibility to act solely in the best interests of MRL and must ensure that nothing you do involves a conflict between your personal interests and your duties and obligations to MRL.

It is likely that conflicts of interest may arise from time to time. Each employee must report any actual or perceived conflict of interest to their manager in writing. Any manager who receives a report of a conflict and is unsure of what action is required should contact the Executive General Manager - Commercial & Legal or Company Secretary.

5.5 FAIR AND OPEN COMPETITION

MRL promotes fair and open competition and believes in competing for business. All employees are required to behave at all times in a manner that does not breach competition laws. Anticompetitive behaviour is not permitted in any circumstances and may include:

- Deceiving a customer about the price or attributes of a product or service
- Imposing conditions of the purchase of goods or services
- Agreeing to fix prices with a competitor
- Sharing confidential pricing information with competitors or suppliers

5.6 INSIDER TRADING

In the course of your job you may learn of information about MRL or other companies – a competitor, joint venture partner, customer or supplier for example – before it is made public. Using this information for your financial or other personal benefit or conveying this information to others may be illegal.

Inside information is information about a company that is not available to the market and if it were made public, it would be likely to have a significant effect (upwards or downwards) on a company's share price.

Examples of possible inside information include:

- MRL's financial performance against its budget or forecasts including production guidance
- Actual or proposed acquisitions or joint ventures
- Actual or possible discoveries of or significant adjustments to ore bodies
- Entry into or termination of a significant contract

If you are in possession of inside information you must not trade in securities or share this information with any other person. It is not an offence to possess inside information but it is a criminal offence to buy, sell or otherwise deal in relevant shares or other securities while you have inside information. This is called insider trading.

Inside information may also refer to another publicly traded company. For example, this may include information that you have obtained confidentially about another company during your work. If the information is not publicly available then you should exercise caution if you wish to trade in that company's shares, since the same insider dealing rules apply to all shares if you have inside information about the relevant company.

Please refer to MRL's Securities Trading Policy for further information.

COMPETITIVELY SENSITIVE AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATIO MUST BE TREATED AS AN ASSET

6.0 PROTECTING OUR RESOURCES

As employees of MRL, we all have an obligation to protect the Company's assets and use them for their intended purpose. Assets exist in various forms and include physical and nonphysical property such as cash, business plans, third party information, intellectual property, confidential and proprietary information, facilities, equipment, company information and data.

Competitively sensitive and proprietary information must be treated as an asset and protected from unauthorised use or disclosure. This may include:

- Business plans and forecasts
- Operational data, such as production and maintenance data, data related to our equipment and process control systems
- Exploration results, research and other technical data

You should not share any of this kind of information unless authorised to do so. If you are not sure what you can share, ask your supervisor or manager.

MRL assets should at all times be used for the purpose and in the manner intended, with all appropriate and accurate records kept. Appropriate precautions should be taken to prevent theft, misappropriation, damage or misuse of any MRL assets.

6.1 PRIVACY

We respect the privacy of our employees, suppliers, customers and shareholders from whom we collect personal information for business purposes. We have an obligation to comply with legislation governing the privacy of personal information and protecting and safeguarding the privacy of people who deal with us.

If you have access to personal information in carrying out your duties, you are expected to be aware of and comply with the relevant legislation and Company policy relating to privacy or personal information.

Any queries or concerns regarding your privacy or the privacy of others should be directed to the General Manager - HR & IR, Executive General Manager -Commercial & Legal or Company Secretary.



6.2 GOVERNMENT AND INTERNATIONAL OBLIGATIONS

MRL will only participate in political activities in an ethical and legal way. We respect every country's political system and processes and do not favour any political party or individual. We may contribute to public debate on issues which impact our business. In our dealings with government officials, we ensure that our processes are fair and transparent. MRL complies with all applicable international laws, regulations and restrictions in relation to trade, money laundering and terrorism financing.

If you are to represent MRL at any event or activity organised by a political party, politician, elected official or candidate, you must seek approval to attend from the General Manager - External Affairs or Company Secretary. Activities that require registration and approval in advance include:

- Paying for tables at functions or events sponsored by or associated with any political party, politician or political candidate
- Sponsoring research affiliated or linked to political parties
- Being involved with any event organised by or on behalf of a political party for which a fee is paid



Any donation to a political party must be approved in advance by the Managing Director.

You may participate in your own capacity as an individual in political processes provided it is understood, and made clear that in doing so, you are not representing MRL.



MRL MANAGES ALL EXTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS MADE ON THE COMPANY'S BEHALF AND BY OUR EMPLOYEES

6.3 REPRESENTING MRL

As a publicly listed company, MRL is required to provide timely, accurate, consistent, complete and fair disclosure of information to the market. Please refer to MRL's Continuous Disclosure Policy for more information.

MRL manages all external communications made on the Company's behalf and by our employees. This is done so that we can protect the interests of MRL's shareholders, employees and customers. It is important that no employee represents the Company externally without prior approval or authorisation. Public disclosures must only be made by authorised spokespersons.

No employee should engage in any discussion, email or correspondence with any representatives of the media in relation to MRL matters unless you have been authorised to do so. If you are contacted by a journalist or media representative seeking information about any aspect of MRL, you are required provide their details to the General Manager - Communications and Brand, the General Manager - External Affairs or Company Secretary.

Employees must carefully consider their presence online and ensure that they do not represent the company through their personal channels. Employees should not disclose confidential information or any other information which could result in liability or embarrassment to employees and/or the Company on their own online presence. Where an employee is expressing personal views, they must ensure not to imply that the Company endorses those views. It is acceptable for employees to use their personal channels to share Company news that is posted through the official MRL channels.



7.0 BREACHES OF THE CODE

If you become aware of any behaviour or situation which you think breaches or potentially breaches the Code, policies or the law, you must report this. Stakeholders may wish first to discuss the reportable conduct informally with their manager or Human Resources representative in order to determine whether serious misconduct has occurred. Breaches can be reported, anonymously if desired, to your manager, Human Resources representative or the Company Secretary.

A manager who is informed of a suspected breach should immediately contact Human Resources, who will work with the manager to determine a course of action.

Any employee who, in good faith, reports a breach or a suspected breach will not be subject to any retaliation or recrimination for making the report. Any employee found to have retaliated against another employee for raising an issue or concern in good faith will face disciplinary action, up to and including, termination of employment.

If you do not feel comfortable raising a breach or suspected breach of the Code through internal channels, you can make a report to our external independent whistleblowing service, MinRes Integrity Assist. This service is provided by Deloitte and you can make a report anonymously if desired using any of the following methods:

- Email: minresintegrity@deloitte.com.au
- Phone: 1800 951 300
- **Fax:** +61 3 9691 8182
- Visit website: www.minresintegrity.deloitte.com.au
- Mail to postal address: MinRes Integrity Assist Reply paid 12628 A'Beckett Street, Melbourne VIC 8006.

For more information, please refer to the MRL Whistleblower Policy.



7.1 CONSEQUENCES OF BREACHING THE CODE

Failing to comply with the Code is viewed as a serious matter that must be addressed and may lead to disciplinary action, including dismissal and/or legal action. If a breach has occurred, the nature of any disciplinary or corrective action will be determined in consultation with appropriate experts. Corrective actions depend on the seriousness of the breach and other relevant circumstances.

Breaches which constitute criminal conduct may also result in criminal prosecution. If the breach includes a violation of the law, the matter may be referred to the appropriate law enforcement authorities.

In addition to failing to comply with the Code directly, misconduct which may result in disciplinary action which includes:

- Requesting others to breach the Code or our values
- Failing to raise promptly any known or suspected breaches
- Failing to cooperate in investigations of possible breaches
- Retaliating against another person for reporting a business conduct concern
- Failing to demonstrate leadership and diligence to ensure compliance with the Code, our values and the law.



mrl.com.au